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OPINION



|. Factual Background
On November 1, 1999, a Hamblen County Grand Jury returned a presentment
charging the appellant with one count of aggravated rape while armed with aweapon, one count of
burglary, and one count of official misconduct. The indictments arose from the fifty-two-year-old
appellant’s rape of eighteen-year-old SAH' while the appellant was on duty as a constable in
Hamblen County. The appellant’ s case proceeded to trial on March 8, 2000.

At trial, SAH testified on behalf of the State. She recounted that, between midnight
and 1:00 am. on July 10, 1999, she was walking along Morristown Boulevard in Morristown,
Tennessee. She explained to the jury that she suffered from insomnia and, therefore, frequently
walked along the boulevard late at night. On the night in question, however, she noticed a green
Jeep Cherokee that appeared to be following her. She became frightened and began to run.

As she attempted to elude the Jeep Cherokee, SAH observed another vehicle drive
into the parking lot of a Sherwin-Williamsstore. Although unmarked, thevehicle®resembled acop
car.” Accordingly, SAH approached the vehicle. As she goproached the vehicle, she observed that
a round, blue light was affixed to the vehicle’'s dashboard, and the appellant was seated inside
dressed in auniform. Specifically, SAH recalled tha the appellant “was dressed in county clothes,
like acounty officer; had anametag like they usually have, badges, you know, guns - - gun, pepper
spray, the whole works.” She noted that she had never seen the gppellant beforethat night.

SAH told the appellant about the Jeep Cherokeethat had beenfoll owing her. In turn,
theappellantinvited her to“ ridearound” with him. SAH agreed to accompany the appel lant because
she “thought it was okay.” During the ensuingdrive, the appellant purchased aMellow Y ellow for
SAH from avending machine. He then drove a short distance outside of town to the ReMax Realty
office building on West Andrew Johnson Highway and parked his vehicle in a parking lot located
at therear of thebuilding. The appellant explained to SAH that the sheriff’ s department maintained
an office inside the building, and the appellant needed to use the telephone.

Theappellant and SAH entered the building through arear door. Accordingto SAH,
the appellant appeared to use akey to unlock the door. Once inside the building, the appellant used
thetelephone, and SAH sat at anearby desk and waited. After theappellant completed histel ephone
call, he and SAH began talking. Thetopic of conversation soon turned to “sexual things,” and the
appellant asked SAH if she had ever engaged in sexual intercourse. When she replied that she had
not, the gppelant “sarted talking about different ways you could do it and that - - and different
positions and stuff like that.” When SAH became upset and “was about to cry or something,” the
appellant approached her, placed his arm around her, and began “kissing [her] and junk.” SAH
asked the appellant to stop, pushing him away from her. Theappellant complied and indicated that
he wanted to go outside and smoke a ci garette. Accordingly, the two left the building.

lIt is the policy of the author of this opinion to refer to all victims of sexual offenses by theirinitials.
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Once outside, however, the appellant began “rubbing . . . on [SAH’s] breasts and
down in the vaginal area.” Additionaly, he pulled up her shirt and “started sucking on [her
breasts].” SAH repeatedly told the appellant to stop. After her third request, the appellant again
complied, and they went back inside the office building.

Insidethe building, the appellant and SAH talked for awhile, and, at some point, the
appellant received a radio call from a dispatcher or another officer requesting his assistance in
transporting a patient to Peninsula Hospital, a mental health treatment facility. The appellant
responded that he was busy and, soon theredter, renewed his sexua advances toward SAH by
kissing her. When SAH asked the appellant to stop, he instead removed his pants and hisgun belt.
The appellant placed the gun belt on a desk within “arm’sreach” and recommenced kissing SAH,
alsoinstructing her toremoveher shorts. SAH testified that sheinitially refused, but “ [theappel lant]
kind of raised hisvoice and he told methat | better doit.” Sherecalled that she was frightened and
complied with theappellant sorder, whereupon the appel lant engaged in sexual intercoursewith her.
SAH repeatedly stated to the appellant, “1 don’t want to do this, stop, . . . please stop, . . . | don’t
want to do this.” The appellant merely reassured her that he would not “comein [her] or get [her]
pregnant.” SAH could not recall at trial whether or not the appellant ever gaculated during
intercourse.

In addition to engaging inintercourse with SAH, the appellant also ordered he to
“jack him off” or masturbate him. When she refused, he again “yelled” at her and she capitul ated
to hisdemand. Afterwards, the appellant |eft the building, leaving SAH inside. SAH recounted, “I
wasjust - - | felt so nasty - - | just went shead and cleaned myself up. You, know, there was some
paper towels on the desk, so | used those to wipe myself off.” She threw the paper towds and a
“panty liner” into atrash can where she had earlier deposited her Mello Yello can.

When SAH finished cleaning and dressing herself, the appellant suggested that they
return to Morristown. SAH agreed, explaining at trial that she had no other means of returning to
town. In Morristown, the appellant and SAH encountered several additional officers who invited
the appellant to accompany them to breakfast. The appellant evidently refused, and theofficers soon
departed. Theappellant then drove SAH to abuilding that housed alocal insurance company where
he allowed her to get out of the car. Before he left, the appellant gave SAH his telephone number.

Following the appellant’s departure, SAH sat on the front steps of the insurance
company until approximately 8:00 am. She then began walking “to wherever my feet led me.”
When she reached the Morristown-Hamblen County Rescue Squad, she asked volunteers at the
rescue squad if she could sit down inside. She soon began crying, however, and, when one of the
volunteers questioned her, she recounted to him therape. The volunteer suggested that shegotoa
hospital and alsonotify thepdice. SAH wasinitidly hesitant to call the police becausethe appellant
was aconstable but ultimately spoke with officersof the Morristown Police Department, providing
several statements concerning the rape and identifying the gopellant as the offender from a 1999
Hamblen County Sheriff’s Department Y earbook.



Attrial, SAH denied engagingin consensual intercoursewith the appel lant and denied
offering to engage inintercourse with the appellant in exchange for money. However, she conceded
that she never physically struggled with the appellant because she was afrad. She also conceded
that, following the appellant’s offenses, she informed June Morrisett of the Morristown Police
Department that the appellant never threatened or hurt her. Finally, she conceded that she had
previously made false 911 calls and had previously made and recanted allegations of rape against
another man, namely her father. With respect to the allegations of rape against her father, she
explained that she had only recanted the allegations because her paternal grandmother had offered
food and lodginginreturn. Sheaffirmed thetruth of theallegationsand, moreover, testified that her
father had been convicted of sexually molesting her and was currently serving a prison sentence for
hisoffense. SAH acknowledged that, following thediscovery of her father’ soffense, shewasplaced
in Lakeshore Mental Health Institute.

In addition to SAH’ s testimony, the State presented the testimony of Mike Kitts, a
lieutenant with the Hamblen County Sheriff’s Department. Kitts testified that, sometime after
midnight on July 10, 1999, he spoke with the gppellant by radio and requested the appellant’s
assistance in transporting a violent patient to Peninsula Hospital. The appellant responded that he
was unable to assist as he “was busy or on some traffic a that time.” On thesame night, Kitts dso
observed the appellant in the parking | ot of a Sav-A-L ot store near West Andrew Johnson Hi ghway.
The appellant appeared to be alone and was purchasing a drink from avending machine. Findly,
at approximately 4:00 am., Kitts was en route to Hardee' s along with several other officers and
encountered the appellant in the parking lot of a Red Food store at the intersection of Morristown
Boulevard and West Andrew Johnson Highway. The appellant was seated in his vehicle with a
female passenger. Kittsinvited the appellant to accompany him and the other officersto Hardee's,
but the appellant indicated that he was “ giving his passenger aride. Somebody had dropped her off
or something, somewhere, and he had picked her up and was giving her aridehome.” The appellant
later joined the officars at Hardee' s, and, when Kitts tessed him about the woman in hisvehicle, the
appellant “laughed it off and said it wasn't like that, he was just giving her aride.”

Donald Oliver, avolunteer at the Morristown-Hamblen County Rescue Squad, also
testified at the appellant’strial. He recounted that, on July 10, 1999, between 1:00 p.m. and 1:30
p.m., he was at the rescue squad and observed SAH walking along the road. She approached the
rescue squad and sat down on a bench outside. When it began to rain, she approached the building
and asked Oliver if she could stand insidethedoor. Oliver and another volunteer named Fred Payne
invited her inside and also gave her a Coca-Cola. Oliver recalled that *[slomething wasn't quite
right about” SAH, and, in fact, she soon beganto cry. When Oliver inquired if anything waswrong,
sheindicated that she had not eaten for three days. She aso recountedto Oliver that apolice officer
had raped her. Oliver had difficulty understanding certain portions of SAH’ saccount but ultimately
understood that she had encountered the officer in Jefferson City, and he had offered her aride to
Morristown. En route to Morristown, the officer had stopped his vehicle at a building that was
unfamiliar to SAH. The officer and SAH had then entered the building, where the officer removed
SAH'’s clothing and raped her. Oliver noted that SAH appeared very tired and, as she related the
rape, became very upset. Additionally, shewasreluctant to report therape to the police because her
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assailant was a police officer. Oliver nevertheless consulted with several paramedics who were
working with the rescue squad, and the paramedics notified the police.

June Morrisett of the Morristown Police Department confirmed that she spoke with
SAH at the rescue squad on July 10, 1999. The officer noted that SAH’ s " mental capacity seemed
somewhat diminished.” Additionally, SAH criedintermittently as shereported to Morrisett that she
had been raped by a police officer. After providing a statement, SAH led Morrisett to the ReMax
Realty office building on West A ndrew Johnson Highway.

Gary Kilgore, adetective sergeant with the Morristown Police Department, testified
that, on July 10, 1999, he was dispatched to the ReMax Realty office building on West Andrew
Johnson Highway, where he met several officers and SAH. Kilgore noted that the office building
islocated on alesstraveled section of the highway, andthe rear of the building is secluded, facing
bare fields and woods. He specifically noted that the rear of the building cannot be seen from the
highway. Insidethe building, Kilgore examined and photographed the rear office in which therape
occurred. Kilgore recalled that the police removed hairs from two chairs located inside the office
and also discovered paper towels, a panty liner, aMéello Yéllo can, and a cigarette package in an
office trash can.

After examining the scene of the off enses, Kilgore interviewed SAH. Additiondly,
he contacted the appellant and asked him to come to the Morristown Police Department. The
appellant acceded to Kilgore srequest and, uponarriving at the station and beinginformed of SAH’s
allegations, also agreed to speak with Kilgore. On thisoccasion, the appellant admitted giving an
unknown girl aride in his vehicle on the previous night but denied taking the girl to the ReMax
Realty office building or engaging in any form of sexua activity with her. Indeed, the appellant
claimed that he was with the girl for only ten or fifteenminutes. The appellant admitted, however,
giving the girl his telephone number. He explained that the girl had indicated she possessed
information concerning illegal drug transactions. The appellant also admitted that his wife was
formerly employed as acleaning woman by ReMax Realty but denied possessing akey to the office
building and asserted that he had nat been inside the building since April.

On July 14, 1999, the appellant returned to the police department and provided a
second statement to the police. On this occasion, the appellant admitted that he was inside the rear
office of the ReMax Realty officebuilding at approximately 1:00a.m. on M ay 5" or 6™. According
to the appellant, he was accompanied by awoman named EdnaHeck, who performed oral sex upon
theappellant. Theappellant stated that he had al so visitedthe office buil ding with Heck on two prior
occasions. The appellant explained that he had previously worked at the ReMax Realty office
building and had discovered that the rear door could be opened with any key. The appellant
concluded that the owners of the building were unaware of his activitiesinside their building.

On July 15, 1999, the appellant provided athird and final statement to Kilgore. On

thisoccasion, the appellant again confirmed that he had previoudly visited the ReMax Realty office
building with Heck but also confessed that he took SAH to the office building in the early morning
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hoursof July 10, 1999. He asserted that he went to the office building in order to make atelephone
call. However, he conceded that, once inside the building, he only pretended to make a telephone
call. The appellant recounted that, at that point, SAH unzipped his pantsand fondled him. Asshe
fondled him, she offered to engagein sexual intercoursewith himinexchangefor thirtydollars. The
appellant asserted that he refused SAH’ s offer, whereupon she offered to “jack him off” for twenty
dollars. The appellant claimed that he nevertheless persisted in his refusal to engage in sexual
activity with SAH, and they soon left the building. The appellant admitted knowing that he “wasn’t
supposed to beinthat ReMax Building’ on the night of his offenses. However, the appellant also
asserted that one of the ownersof the building, “Monty,” had onceindicated to him that it was okay
to use or check out the building.” Specifically, the gppell ant asserted that “Monty” had given him
permission to use the telephones inside the building. He conceded that the owner never provided
him with akey to the building.

During the course of his July 15, 1999 statement, the appellant initially denied
engaging in sexua intercourse with SAH. However, when Kilgore reminded the appellant of the
possibility that semen might be recovered from the victim, the appellant conceded that “there was
someslight penetration.” Nevertheless, the appellant insisted that hewasentirely passiveduringhis

encounter with SAH, stating, “I didn’t doit. | was standingthereand shegot aholdof it....” The
appellant noted that, on the night in question, SAH “acted . . . like she was on drugs or smoking pot
or something. . . . | mean she talked sensible half the time.”

Kilgoretestified at trial that, in fact, no semen wasfound on vaginal swabs obtained
from the victim, on the underwear worn by the victim on the night of the offenses, or on the panty
liner and the paper towels recovered from the trash can at the ReMax Realty office building. He
remarked, however, that saliva was detected on SAH's breasts.

Edna Heck also testified on behalf of the State. She admitted that she knew the
appellant. However, she denied ever accompanying the appellant to the ReMax Realty office
building, and shedenied ever engaging in any form of sexual activity with the gopellant.

Finaly, Bob Mitchell testified that he and aman named M onty Samswere co-owners
of the ReMax Realty office building on West Andrew Johnson Highway. Heasserted that he never
granted the appellant permissionto enter the building on the night of these offenses.

The appellant declined to testify on his own behalf. Instead, he presented the
testimony of Dorothy Hawk, aneighbor of SAH. Hawk related to the jury that, approximately two
weeks prior to the appellant’ s offenses, she was sitting on her porch and overheard a conversation
between SAH and another neighbor named Patricia Costner. During this conversation, Costner
stated to SAH that she wanted to “ get rid of” aboyfriend. Costner further remarked, “Wéll, 1’1l get
him someway if | haveto charge him withrape.” SAH responded, “Well, I'll get somebody before
you do.”



Subsequently, Hawk read an articleinthelocal newspaper concerning theappdlant’s
offenses. Soon thereafter, she confronted SAH concerning the article, indicating that she did not
believe SAH’s accusation of rape. Hawk testified that SAH laughed and stated, “Well, the s.o.b.
madememad . . . [b]ecause he made me get out of hiscar.” Hawk conceded that, upon reading the
newspaper article, SAH became upset. However, Hawk asserted that SAH’s agitation stemmed
solely from a statement in the article indicating that SAH was mentally retarded.

Lorie Clark, another neighbor of SAH, testified that she too overheard the
conversation between SAH and Costner during which Costner stated that she was going to accuse
her current boyfriend of rape in order to “get rid of” him. According to Clark, Costner aso stated
that she had falsely accused a boyfriend of rape when she lived in Georgia. Clark added that she
overheard yet another conversation between SAH and Costner prior to these offenses. During this
second conversation, Costner asserted, “1’m goingto get my namein the paper.” SAH responded,
“Well, | bet my name goes in the paper first before you.” Moreover, Clark testified that she
overheard a conversation between SAH and a“boyfriend’? named Hugh Allen during which SAH
threatenedto charge Allenwithrape. Finally, Clark related that shewas present when Hawk showed
SAH the newspaper article concerning the appellant’s offenses. Like Hawk, Clark testified
concerning SAH’ sremark that the appellant had angered her by forcing her to get out of his car and
refusing to drive her home. Moreover, like Hawk, Clark testified that SAH appeared upset by the
reference in the newspaper article to her mental retardation. Clark noted that, in fact, SAH “was
mentally handicapped to some degree.” Clark conceded that SAH never indicated that she had
fabricated her accusation against the appel lant.

Atthecloseof thetrid, the jury convicted the gppdl ant of aggravated rape, burgl ary,
and official misconduct. Immediatdy thereafter, the trial court conducted a sentencing hearing, at
the conclusion of which the court imposed an effective sentence of twenty-two years incarceration
inthe Tennessee Department of Correction. The appellant now apped s both hisconvictionsand the
trial court’s sentencing determinations.

[I. Analysis
A. Sufficiency of the Evidence

The appellant first challenges the sufficiency of the evidence underlying his
convictions. The appellant rests his challenge entirely upon the grounds tha the trial was a
credibility contest and the vidim “is a chronic liar.” We preliminarily note that the appellant’s
argument castsin bold relief the standards by which this court reviewsthe sufficiency of evidence.
In particular, all factual issuesraised by the evidence, including questions concerningthe credibility
of witnesses and the weight and value to be given the evidence, are resolved by thetrier of fact and
not this court. State v. Pruett, 788 S.W.2d 559, 561 (Tenn. 1990). Thus, in order to successfully
challenge ajury’ s resolution of factual issuesin favor of the Stae, the appellant must demonstrate
to this court that no “rational trier of fact” could have found the essential elements of the offense

2Clark testified that, to her knowledge, SAH did not have any boyfriends other than Allen, and Allen had stated
to Clark that he and SAH were currently only friends.
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beyond a reasonable doubt. Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 2789 (1979);
Statev. Tuggle, 639 S.W.2d 913, 914 (Tenn. 1982); Tenn. R. App. P. 13(¢). These standards apply
to convictions based upon direct evidence, circumstantial evidence, or both. Statev. Carruthers, 35
S.W.3d 516, 557 (Tenn. 2000).

Consistent withtheabove standards, we have held that, generally, theuncorroborated
testimony of asingle witnesswill support adefendant’ sconviction. Statev. Anthony Lynn Wyrick,
No. E1999-02206-CCA-R3-CD, 2001 WL 472849, at * 13 (Tenn. Crim. App. a Knoxville, May 4,
2001) (citing Letner v. State, 512 SW.2d 643, 649 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1974)); see also State v.
McKnight, 900 SW.2d 36, 48 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1994); State v. Frank Kenneth Talley, No.
01C01-9612-CC-00524, 1999 WL 722631, at *4 (Tenn. Crim. App. at Nashville, September 17,
1999). Thiscourt will only intrude upon the province of thetrier of fact and disturb its assessment
of awitness’ credibility in the rarest of cases. For example, this cout will disregard a witness
testimony if itis“entirely irreconcilable with the physicd evidence.” Statev. Hornsby, 858 S.\W.2d
892, 894-895 (Tenn. 1993); seed so Statev. M atthew Douglas Cox, No. E1999-00351-CCA-R3-CD,
2000 WL 1562920, at *10 (Tenn. Crim. App. at Knoxville, October 20, 2000), perm. to appea
denied, (Tenn. 2001). Additionally, awitness uncorroborated and contradictory statements made
under oath and concerning the same fact will cancel each other if the contradiction is unexplained.
State v. Matthews, 888 S.W.2d 446, 449-450 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1993); State v. Michael Dwayne
Edwards, No. W1999-00591-CCA-R3-CD, 2000 WL 674671, at *3 (Tenn. Crim. App. at Jackson,
May 16, 2000), perm. to appeal denied, (Tenn. 2000). More broadly, this court will disregard
testimony “‘if it is so indefinite, contradictory or unreliable that it would be unsafe to rest a
convictionthereon.”” Letner, 512 S.\W.2d at 649; see al so Wyrick, No. E1999-02206-CCA-R3-CD,
2001 WL 472849, at *13.

We conclude that the appellant’s case is not among the rarest of cases. SAH’s
testimony was consistent with physical evidencerelating to the appellant’ s offenses and, moreover,
was partially corroborated by thetestimony of other State withesses and the appellant’s own, final
statement to the police. Therecord is devoid of any sworn statement by SAH contradicting her
testimony at trial concerning the appellant’ soffenses. Indeed, SAH hasconsistently maintained that
the appellant raped her. Asto SAH’s “history of falsity and lies,” we acknowledge this court’s
holding in Wyrick, No. E1999-02206-CCA-R3-CD, 2001 WL 472849, at * 24 (citations omitted),
that

[p]rior fase reports of crime are relevant to a witness's credibility.

Similarly with regard to sexual offenses, the fact that a vidim

previously accused another of raping her is material to her charge of

rape against the defendant if proof existsthat the victim falsified the

prior accusation.

Neverthel ess,wedo not believethat, in thiscase, the evidence of prior falsereportsof crimeby SAH
rendered her testimony at trial “so indefinite, contradictory or unrdiable’ as to be a nullity,
particularlyinthe context of the appellant’ sinconsistent statementsto the police. See, e.q., Hackney
v. State, 551 S.\W.2d 335, 339 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1977); Statev. William Pierre Torres, No. E1999-
00866-CCA-R3-DD, 2001 WL 245137, at *38 (Tenn. Crim. App. at Knoxville, March 13, 2001);
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Otha Bomar v. State, No. 01C01-9808-CR-00342, 2000 WL 19763, at *3 (Tenn. Crim. App. a
Nashville, January 13, 2000), perm. to appeal denied, (Tenn. 2000). Indeed, we note that it is not
at al clear from the record that SAH’s prior accusation of rape against her father was false.
Correspondingly, testimony by defense witnesses about SAH’s possible motives to fabricate an
accusation of rape against the appellant merely presented a classic jury question.

Having declined to disturbthejury’ sassessment of SAH’ scredibility, weadditionally
concludethat the evidence is otherwise sufficient to support thejury’ sverdicts. With respect to the
appellant’ sconviction of aggravated rape, the State wasrequired to prove beyond areasonabl edoubt
thefollowing essential elements: (1) the appellant engaged in the unlawful sexual penetration of the
victim; (2) the appellant employed force or coeraon to accomplish the act; (3) the appellant was
armed with a weapon; and (4) the appellant acted intentionally, knowingly, or recklessly. Tenn.
Code Ann. 8§ 39-13-502(a)(1) (1997); Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-11-301(c) (1997). “‘Force’ means
compulsion by the use of physical power or violence,” Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-11-106(a)(12) (1997),
and “coercion” is defined as a “threat of kidnapping, extortion, force or violence to be performed
immediately or in the future,” Tenn. Code Ann. 8 39-13-501(1) (1997). “Sexua penetration”
denotes* sexual intercourse. . . or any other intrusion, however dlight, of any part of aperson’ sbody
or of any object into the genital or anal openings of the victim's, . . . but emission of semenis not
required.” Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-501(7).

Inthiscase, theappellant himself confessedto policethat heengagedin“ someslight”
penile penetration of SAH’s vagina or genital opening at the ReMax Realty office building.
Moreover, while the appellant did not wield his gun during his sexual penetration of SAH, the
aggravated rape statute only requires the State to establish “tha the appellant’s possession of a
weapon ‘ occurred inassociation with the unlawful sexual penetration, whether . . . [the possession]
occur[red] before, during, or after theactual sexual penetration.”” Cox, No. E1999-00351-CCA-R3-
CD, 2000 WL 1562920, at * 11 (alteration in original); see also State v. Randy Hodge, No. 91, 1991
WL 28952, at **4-5 (Tenn. Crim. App. at Knoxville, March 5, 1991). As noted earlier, SAH
testified that, prior to engaging in sexual intercourse with her, the appellant placed his gun bdt
within “arm’s reach” and ordered her to remove her shorts. She further recounted that, when she
refused, the appellant raised his voice and told her that she had “better do it,” whereupon she
complied. Not only doesthistestimony establish the essential el ementthat the appellant’ sunlawful
sexual penetration of SAH was accompanied by his possession of aweapon, but the tegimony also
establishestheappellant’ suse of coercion or threat of force or violence, albeitthethreat wasimplied,
and his possession of the requisite mental state. See Statev. L eland Ray Reeves No. 01C01-9711-
CR-00515, 1999 WL 155926, at * 3 (Tenn. Crim. App. at Nashville, March 23, 1999) (holding that
an “implicit threat of violence” qualifies as coercion under Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-501(1)); cf.
McKnight, 900 S.W.2d at 48 (holdingthat, without force or threat, there could be no "coercion” as
statutorily defined).

Withrespect tothe appellant’ sconviction of burglary, theStatewasrequiredto prove
beyond a reasonable doubt the following essential elements: (1) the appellant entered a building,
other than a habitation, that was not open to the public; (2) the appellant entered the building with
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the intent to commit a felony, namely rape; (3) the appellant did not have the effective consent of
the property owner; and (4) the appellant acted intentionally, knowingly, or recklessly. Tenn. Code
Ann. 8 39-14-402(a)(1) (1997); Tenn. CodeAnn. § 39-11-301(c). “‘ Effectiveconsent’ meansassent
in fact, whether express or apparent, including assent by one legally authorized to act for another.”
Tenn. Code Ann. 8§ 39-11-106(a)(9).

It is undisputed that the appellant entered the ReMax Realty office building on the
night of these offenses when the building was not open to the public. Asto the appellant’sintent to
commit a felony inside the office building, a defendant’ s * declared purpose is but one fador in
ascertaining whether hisentry waswith feloniousintent. ‘ One'sactionsare circumstantial evidence
of his intent.” In addition, the circumstances surrounding the entry must also be viewed in
determining intent.” State v. Holland, 860 SW.2d 53, 59 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1993) (citation
omitted); see also Statev. Christopher D. Smith, No. 03C01-9807-CR-00270, 1999 WL 482197, at
*3 (Tenn. Crim. App. a Knoxville, July 12, 1999), perm. to appeal denied, (Tenn. 1999). We
believethat the appellant’ s actionsin this case and the circumstances surrounding his entry into the
ReMax Redlty office building justify the jury’s conclusion that the appellant entered the building
with the intent to rape SAH. We especialy note that, notwithstanding the appellant’s “declared
purpose”’ of making atelephonecall, the appellant admitted to policethat he only pretended to make
atelephone call onceinside the building. Similarly, we note the isolated nature of the location to
which the appellant transported SAH. Asto any “effective consent” by the property ownersto the
appellant’ s entry into the office building onthe night of these offenses, the record before this court
supports a conclusion that the appellant did not have the effective consent of the owners, that the
appellant was at |east aware of therisk that he did not have the effective consent of the owners, and
that he disregarded that risk. Cf. State v. James Albert Adams, No. M1998-00468-CCA-R3-CD,
1999 WL 1179580, at *7 (Tenn. Crim. App. at Nashville, December 15, 1999), perm. to appeal
denied, (Tenn. 2000).

Further addressing the issue of effective consent, we again note Bob Mitchell’s
testimony that he never gave the appellant permission to enter the building on July 10, 1999. Of
course, during histhird and final statement to the police, the appellant contended that he had been
given permission by the other co-owner, Monty Sams, to “use” the building to make tel ephone calls.
Y et, the appellant also admitted knowing that he “wasn’t supposed to be in that ReMax Buil ding”
on the night of his offenses and admitted that nei ther owner had given him a key to the building.
Rather, he conceded that he was only able to enter the building following the close of business
because, during his past employment by ReMax Realty, he discovered a defect in the lock securing
therear entrance. Moreover, in an earlier statement to the police, the appellant admitted that neither
owner was aware of hislate-night use of the office building. In short, “ajury is entitled to accept
that portion of the [appdlant]'s pretrid statement . . . that it deem[s] credibleand reject that which
it deem[s] to befalse.” Statev. James Clayton Y oung, Jr., No. 01C01-9605-CC-00208, 1998 WL
258466, at *9 (Tenn. Crim. App. at Nashville, May 22, 1998).

Turning to the appellant’ s conviction of official misconduct, the State was required
to prove beyond areasonabl e doubt thefollowing essential elements: (1) the appellant wasa“ public
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servant”; (2) the appellant committed an act under color of office or enployment tha exceeded his
official power; (3) the appellant acted intentionally or knowingly; and (4) the appellant intended to
obtain a benefit or to harm another. Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-16-402(a)(2) (1997). A public servant
“means a person elected, selected, appointed, employed, or otherwise designated asone (1) of the
following . . . [a]n officer, employee, or agent of government.” Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-16-401(3)
(1997). Moreover, “apublic servant commits an act under color of office or employment who acts
or purportsto act in an official capacity or takes advantage of such actual or purported capacity.”
Tenn. Code Ann. 8§ 39-16-402(b). In this case, the appellant was on duty and in uniform as a
constablein Hamblen County at the timeof these offenses. See Tenn. Code Ann. §8-10-101to-117
(1993 & 2000 Supp.). Heused thetrust inspired by hisofficial capacity to pick up ayoung woman
in hisvehicle, drive her to an isolated office building, and rape her. Accordingly, we conclude that
arational jury could have found dl the essential elements of official misconduct. Thisissue is
without merit.

B. Testimony Concerning Patricia Costner

The appellant next contends that the trial court erred in sustaining the State's
objection to testimony by defense withess Hawk concerning Patricia Costner’ s accusation of rape
against aboyfriend soon after the appellant’ soffenses. In essence, the appellant arguesthat thetrial
court’s ruling constituted an impermissible comment upon the evidence due to the trial court’s
failure to clarify the grounds for its ruling. Moreover, the appellant asserts that the trial court’s
ruling denied him an opportunity to present acomplete defense, thereby violating principles of due
process embodied in the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section
9 of the Tennessee Constitution.

The appellant’s complaint arises from the following proceedings, during which
defense counsel questioned Hawk concerning her confrontation with SAH about the newspaper
article describing the appellant’ s offenses:

Defense Counsel: Was there anything else said duringthis

conversation?

Hawk: [Costner] said that she used to accuse

peoplein Georgia of raping her. And
my neighbor, other neighbor, asked
why, and she said, Just to get

attention.

Tria court: That's- - -

Defense Counsel: Wait, wait. Let’sslow down.

Tria court: Let's don't be talking about other things a
third party said.

Hawk: No, I’'m sorry.

Defense Counsel: After that took place, what next occurred?
What happened then?

Hawk: Well, afew days later [Costner’s] boyfriend

camein. | was sitting out on the porch. She
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unlocked the door and let him in. And | was
sitting out on the porch. | didn’t hear athing.
And she turned around and accused him of

raping her.

Prosecutor: Judge, I’m going to object.

Trial court: Sustained. It has - - What Paricia Costner
said, members of the jury, has nothing to do
with this case.

Defense Counsel: Your Honor, if | could just - - Okay.
Following the above exchange, defense counsel quickly concluded his examination of the witness.

Our supreme court has observed that Article VI, Section 9 of the Tennessee
Constitution prohibits judges from commenting upon the credibility of witnesses or otherwise
expressing an opinion concerning the weight of the evidence presented during a trial. State v.
Suttles, 767 SW.2d 403, 406 (Tenn. 1989); see also State v. Odom, 928 SW.2d 18, 32 (Tenn.
1996); State v. Brown, 823 SW.2d 576, 588 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1991); State v. Alberto Baretta
Estes, No. 02C01-9512-CC-00379, 1997 WL 119510, at *2 (Tenn. Crim. App. at Jackson, March
18, 1997). In other words, “thetrial judge decidesthelaw and. . . thejury decidesthefacts.” State
v. Jason Thomas Beeler, No. W1999-01417-CCA-R3-CD, 2000 WL 1670945, at * 24 (Tenn. Crim.
App. at Jackson, November 2, 2000). Thus, while “[t]he propriety, scope, manner and control of
examination of witnesses iswithin thetrial court's discretion,” State v. Harris, 839 S.\W.2d 54, 72
(Tenn. 1992); see also State v. Hutchinson, 898 S.W.2d 161, 172 (Tenn. 1994); State v. John D.
Joslin, No. 03C01-9510-CR-00299, 1997 WL 583071, at *42 (Tenn. Crim. App. a Knoxville,
September 22, 1997); Tenn. R. Evid. 611(a), the trial court’s exercise of its discretion must be
consistent with the line drawn by our constitution dividing the functions of the judge andthe jury.
Asin the instant case, claimsthat atrial court has “crossed the line” or abused its discretion may
arisefrom the manner in which thecourt rulesupon aparty’ sobjection to theadmission of awitness
testimony.?

3The appellant arguesin hisbriefthat, “ [b] ecausethe State’ sobjection wasinimproper form by not statingreason
for his objection, the Court’s exclusion of the evidence should be treated as . .. sua sponte.” Arguably, however, the
specific bases for the exclusion of Hawk’s testimony were apparent from the context in which the State proffered its
objection. See, e.q., Tenn. R. Evid. 103(a)(1). First, thetrial court had just sua sponte and without objection by defense
counsel excluded from evidence on hearsay grounds other out-of-court statements made by Costner. Second, the disputed
testimony’s questionable relevance to the appellant’s case guaranteed an objection and, absent any response by defense
counsel, thetrial court’sruling in favor of the State. In any event, the appellant himself acknowledges that atrial court’s
suasponte exercise of control over the examination of awitness does not necessarily amount to an impermissible comment
upon the evidence. Thus, we have approved atrial court’ s sua gonte limitation of irrelevant testimony. Statev. Dooley,
29 S.\W.3d 542, 548 (Tenn. Crim. App. 2000); Statev. Combs, 945 S.W.2d 770, 774 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1996). Similarly,
we have held that
it [is] not an abuse of discretion for thetrial court to [suasponte] require that counsel
avoid compound questions, base his questions on facts in proof, limit hearsay
testimony to allowable exceptions, and permit the witness to finish an answer
without interruption.
Estes, No. 02C01-9512-CC-00379, 1997 WL 119510, at *3. For the reasons subsequently set forth, we cannot conclude
(continued...)
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That having been said, we do not believe that the trial court’ sruling in this case and
itsaccompanying instruction to the jury conveyed any opinionconcerning the credibility of defense
witnesses or the weight of evidence presented either for or against the appdlant. Moreover, if
defense counsel was concerned about the jury’ s possible misapprehension of thetrial court’sruling
and the grounds thereof, the appel lant had an opportunity to requed clarification fromthetrial court
and failed to avail himself of that opportunity. Tenn. R. App. P. 36(a). Finaly, & the conclusion
of thetrial, thetrial court instructed thejury:

At times during the trial | have ruled upon the admissibility of

evidence. Y ou must not concem yourself with theserulings. Neither

by such rulings, these instructions, nor any remarks which | have

made, do | mean to indicate any opinion asto the facts or as to what

your verdict should be.

It iswell settled in the state of Tennessee that a jury is presumed to have followed a trial court's
instructions, and the record before this court does not rebut that presumption. Spicer v. State, 12
S.W.3d 438, 449 n.14 (Tenn. 2000).

Astotheappellant’ scomplaint that thetrial court’ sruling denied him an opportunity
to present acompl ete defense, “[t]he Sixth Amendment [to the United States Constitution] and the
Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment clearly guarantee a criminal defendant the right
to present a defense which includes the right to present witnesses favorable to the defense.” State
v.Brown, 29 SW.3d 427,432 (Tenn.), cert. denied, U.S. ,121 S. Ct. 275 (2000); seealso State
v. Phipps, 883 S.W.2d 138, 149 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1994) (“Defendants have a right to present
competent and reliable evidence in support of their defenses.”). The Tennessee Constitution
similarly guarantees an accused ameaningful opportunity to present a competent defense, State v.
Braden, 867 S\W.2d 750, 760 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1993), aright that our supreme court has suggested
is coextensive with the federal constitutional guarantee, State v. Sheline, 955 SW.2d 42, 47-48
(Tenn. 1997). However, theright to present acompl ete defense does not entitle adefendant to place
before thejury irrelevant evidence. Id. at 47. Indeed, “even the right to present relevant evidence
‘may, in an appropriate case, bow to accommodate other legitimate interests in the criminal trial
process.’” Id.; cf. Brown, 29 SW.3d at 432-436. In thisregard, our supreme court in Brown, 29
SW.3d at 433-434, set forth the necessary analysis when determining whether the constitutional
right to present a defense has been violated by the exclusion of evidence. See also State v. Coley,
32 S\W.3d 831, 838n.14 (Tenn. 2000). Specificdly, courtsmust consider the following factors: (1)
whether the excluded evidence is critical to the defense; (2) whether the evidence bears sufficient
indicia of reliability; and (3) whether the interest supporting the exclusion of the evidence is
substantially important. Coley, 32 S\W.3d at 838 n.14 (citing Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S.
284, 298-301, 93 S. Ct. 1038, 1047-1049 (1973)); Brown, 29 SW.3d at 433-434 (similarly citing
Chambers, 410 U.S. at 298-301, 93 S. Ct. at 1047-1049).

3(...continued)
that the trial court abused its discretion in this case.
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Once again, the appellant’ s failure to request clarification of the trial court’s ruling
and, moreover, hisfailure to explain to the trial court the specific evidentiary basis supporting the
admission of Hawk’ s testimony preclude our consideration of thisissue. Tenn. R. App. P. 36(a);
Tenn. R. Evid. 103(a)(2). Additionally, theappellant’ sargument on appeal , consi sting of asummary
assertion that, “[i]f . . . Hawk had been allowed to continue, her testimony would have been very
relevant to the question on [SAH' 5] credibility, which wasacentral issueinthiscase,” isinadequate
and results in the waiver of thisissue. Tenn. R. App. P. 27(a)(7); Tenn. Ct. of Crim. App. Rule
10(b). Indeed, we note that the appellant doesnot state what additional testimony would have been
forthcoming from Hawk aside from her testimony concerning Costner’ s accusation of rape against
aboyfriend following these offenses, nor did theappellant at any time attempt to submit an offer of
proof to the trial court in accordance with Tenn. R. Evid. 103(a)(2). Finally, we conclude that any
error was undoubtedly harmless. Chapmanv. California 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 828 (1967).
Although we may surmise that the appellant was attempting to present more evidence in support of
histheory that Costner and SAH were engaged in an ongoing competition to make fal se accusations
of rape and obtain mentioninthelocal newspaper, thistheory was otherwise clearly conveyedto the
jury through the testimony of both defense witnesses.

C. Newly Discovered Evidence

The appellant next challenges the trial court’s denial of his motion for new trial on
the basis of newly discovered evidence. The appdlant attached to his motion for new trial an
affidavit completed by Robin Long, an inmate of the Hamblen County Jail. In the affidavit, Long
asserted that, prior to the appellant’ strial, she spoke with SAH “numerous’ times concerning the
victim’ saccusation of rape. According to Long, SAH admitted duringthese conversationsthat she
had fabricated the accusation and additionally stated her intention to commit perjury at the
appellant’s trial. Long maintained in the afidavit that she dd not talk with the gppellant or
appellant’s counsel until March 30, 2000, following the conclusion of the appellant’s trial. The
affidavit, although signed by both Long and three witnesses, was not notarized. Defense counsel
also completed an affidavit asserting that he “ made diligent effortsto contact potential witnessesfor
Mr. Gass defense,” but “was not made aware of Ms. RobinLong’ stestimony or her existence until
March 30, 2000.” Defense counsel’s affidavit was both signed and duly notarized.

Thetrial court conducted ahearing on the appellant’ s motion for new trial on March
31, 2000. At the hearing, the appellant made no attempt to present Long’ stestimony to the court or
request a continuance of the hearing for the purpose of securing Long’ s presence. In any event, the
court concluded:

[ITt issomething that at best ismerely cumulative; similar evidence

was presented at the trial. And, of course, the most incriminating

evidenceof all against Mr. Gass was his own statements and the tape

recording in which he pretty well admitted everything that the

prosecutrix claimed. | find that this does not meet the guidelines of

newly discovered evidence. It did exist prior tothetrial itself, and no

dif ferent result woul d have been reached, anyway.
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The decision to grant or deny anew trial on the basisof newly discovered evidence
rests within the sound discretion of thetrial court. State v. Goswick, 656 S.W.2d 355, 358 (Tenn.
1983); Statev. Caldwell, 977 S.W.2d 110, 117 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1997). Thetrial court’sexercise
of itsdiscretion is dependent upon (1) whether the defendant wasreasonably diligent in attempting
to discover the evidence; (2) whether the newly discovered evidenceismaterial; and (3) whether the
evidence would likely have changed the result of thetrial. Statev. Nichols 877 SW.2d 722, 737
(Tenn. 1994) (appendix); Statev. Singleton, 853 S.W.2d 490, 496 (Tenn. 1993). Generally, “[a] new
trial will not be granted when the newly discovered evidence would have no effect other than to
impeachthetestimony of awitness.” Statev. Joe Michael Green, No. 02C01-9711-CC-00429, 1999
WL 632235, at * 3 (Tenn. Crim. App. at Jackson, August 20, 1999). However, thisgeneral rule will
yield if the impeaching evidence “is so crucia to the defendant’s quilt or innocence that its
admission will probably result in an acquittal.” Singleton, 853 S.W.2d at 496. Obviously, when a
verdict isalready one of questionabl evd idity, even newly discovered evidenceof relatively minor
importance may be sufficient to create the requisite probability of acquittal. 1d.

Applying the above principles, we decline to disturb the trial court’s exercise of its
discretion. Initialy, we agree with the State that the affidavits submitted by the appellant fail to
“set[] forth facts showing that he and his counsel exercised reasonable diligence and were not
negligent inthe search for evidencein preparation for the trial of the case,” particularly in light of
the possibility that Long’'s conversations with SAH occurred while SAH was herself incarcerated
inthe Hamblen County Jail prior to the appellant’ strial. Jonesv. State, 452 S.W.2d 365, 367 (Tenn.
Crim. App. 1970); see also State v. Marlon D. Beauregard, No. W1999-01496-CCA-R3-CD, 2000
WL 705978, at *4 (Temn. Crim. App. at Jackson, May 26, 2000), perm. to appeal denied, (Tenn.
2001). Moreover, even assuming the exercise of reasonable diligence by the appdlant and defense
counsel and acknowledging the materiality of the proposed testimony, we cannot conclude that the
testimony would “probably” result in an acquittal. In reaching our conclusion, we note that the
appellant’ sown lack of credbility undoubtedly played acrucial rolein thejury’ sresolution of this
casein favor of the State and further note the questionabl e credibility of the source of the proposed
testimony. Thisissue iswithout merit.

D. Sentencing

Findly, the appellant challengesthe length of his sentences. Appellatereview of the
length of asentenceisdenovo. Tenn. Code Ann. 8 40-35-401(d) (1997). Inconductingitsdenovo
review, this court considers the following factors: (1) the evidence, if any, received at the trial and
the sentencing hearing; (2) the pre-sentence report; (3) the principles of sentencing and arguments
asto sentencing alternatives; (4) the natureand characteristics of thecriminal conduct involved; (5)
evidence and information offered by the parties on enhancement and mitigating factors; (6) any
statement by the defendant on his own behalf; and (7) the potential for rehabilitation or treatment.
Tenn. Code Ann. §40-35-102, -103 (1997), -210(1999). Seealso Statev. Ashby, 823 SW.2d 166,
168 (Tenn. 1991). Theburdenisupon theappellant to demonstrate theimpropriety of his sentences.
Tenn. Code Ann. § 40-35-401, Sentencing Commission Comments. Moreover, if therecord reveds
that the trial court adequately considered sentencing prindples and all relevant facts and
circumstances, this court will accord the trial court’ s determinations a presumption of correctness

-15-



1d. at (d); Ashby, 823 S.W.2d at 169. For reasons set forth below, we do not defer to thetrial court’s
determinationsin this case.

The statutorily prescribed procedure for determining the length of afelony sentence
isset forth in Tenn. Code Ann. 8 40-35-210. The presumptive sentencefor aclass A felony isthe
midpoint in the range if there are no enhancement or mitigating factors. Id. at (). In contrast, the
presumptive sentence for both class D and E feloniesis the minimum sentenceintherange. 1d. If
there are enhancement and mitigating factors, a court must start at the presumptive sentencein the
range, enhancethe sentence as appropriate for the enhancement factors, and then reducethe sentence
as appropriate for the mitigating factors. 1d. at (e).

Again, the appellant was convicted of the class A felony of aggravated rape, Tenn.
Code Ann. 8§ 39-13-502(b), the classD felony of burglary, 39-13-402(c), and the class E felony of
official misconduct, Tenn. Code Ann. 8 39-16-402(d). At the sentencing hearing, the trial court
found that al of the appellant’s offenses “involved a victim and w[ere] committed to gratify the
defendant’ sdesirefor pleasureor excitement.” Tenn. Code Ann. 8 40-35-114(7) (1997). Moreover,
the court considered the appellant’ sabuse of aposition of public trust in enhancing thesentencesfor
the three offenses. Id. at (15). With respect to the appellant’ s convictions of burglary and official
misconduct, the trial court further considered the appellant’s possession of a firearm during the
commission of theoffenses. 1d. at (9). Finaly, inmitigating all of the appellant’ s sentences, thetrial
court noted the appellant’ slack of any criminal record. Tenn. Code Ann. § 40-35-113(13) (1997).
Thetrial court emphasized that the lack of acriminal record rendered it “unlikely that a sustained
intent to violate the law motivated the [appellant’s] criminal conduct.” Tenn. Code Ann. 8§ 40-35-
113(11). In accordance withthese considerations, the trial court imposed a mid-range sentence of
twenty-two yearsincarceration in the Tennessee Department of Correction for the aggravated rape
conviction, a maximum sentence of four years incarceration in the Department for the burglary
conviction, and a maximum sentence of two years incarceration for the official misconduct
conviction. Thetral court ordered concurrent sarvice of these sentences.

Preliminarily, we note that, on appeal, the appellant does not contest thetrial court’s
consideration of hisabuse of aposition of public trust in enhancing all of his sentences, Tenn. Code
Ann. 840-35-114(15), nor doesthe appellant contest thetrial court’ sconsideration of hispossession
of afirearm during the commission of the burglary and official misconduct offenses, id. at (9).
Pursuant to our de novo review, we agree that the trial court properly considered the latter factor in
enhancing the appellant’s sentences for burglary and official misconduct. However, we must
conclude that the trial court improperly applied the enhancement factor relating to the appellant’s
abuse of a position of public trust to enhance his sentence for official misconduct. This court has
previously held that the abuse of a position of public trust is inherent in the offense of official
misconduct and, therefore, cannot enhance a sentence for that offense. State v. Billy Bivens, No.
E1999-00086-CCA-R3-CD, 2000 WL 968789, at * 9 (Tenn. Crim. App. at Knoxville, July 14, 2000).

The appellant does challenge thetrial court’ s enhancement of all of his sentenceson
the basisthat he committed the offensesto gratify hisdesire for pleasure or excitement. Tenn. Code
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Ann. 840-35-114(7). Inparticular, theappellant complansthat the court failed to “ statewhat facts
or circumstances he bases hisdecison on.” We agree with the appellant tha the trial court should
include in the record “ specific findings of fact upon which application of the sentencing principles
was based.” Tenn. Code Ann. § 40-35-209(c) (1997); Temn. Code Ann. 8§ 40-35-210(f); see also
State v. Dies, 829 SW.2d 706, 710 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1991); State v. Jason C. Carter, No.
M1998-00798-CCA-R3-CD, 2000 WL 515930, & *10 (Tenn. Crim. App. at Nashville, April 27,
2000), perm. to appeal denied, (Tenn. 2000). Moreover, we agree with the appellant that the trial
court minimally, at best, complied withthisrequirement in applying the enhancement factor setforth
in Tenn. Code Ann. 8 40-35-114(7). Nevertheless, pursuant to our de novo review, weapprove the
trial court’s consideration of this factor.

First, the factor is not inherent in any of the appellant’s offenses, and, therefore,
application of the factor did not run afoul of the general rule that factors which are elements of or
otherwise inherent in a particular offense* should not be given substantive waght in increasing a
sentence.” Statev. Pike, 978 S.W.2d 904, 927 (Tenn. 1998); see also Statev. Winfield, 23 S.W.3d
279, 283 (Tenn. 2000). In particul ar, our supremecourt has observed that many rapesare committed
for purposes other than pleasure or excitement. Statev. Carico, 968 S.W.2d 280, 286 (Tenn. 1998);
see also State v. Spratt, 31 S\W.3d 587, 608 (Tenn. Crim. App. 2000). Moreover, the evidence
adduced by the State at the appellant’ strial established that he committed the rapein this case and,
therefore, the burglary and official misconduct offensesfor the purpose of pleasure or exdtement.
For example, SAH testified at trial that, prior to raping her, the appellant discussed with her
“different waysyou could [engagein sexual intercourse] and that - - and different positionsand stuff
likethat.” Moreover, SAH testified that the appellant kissed her, “rubb[ed] . . . on[her] breastsand
down in the vaginal area,” and “suck[ed] on [her breasts]” prior to engagng in sexual intercourse
withher. Findly, in hisstatement to the police, the appellant conceded that he achieved an erection
during his encounter with SAH. Contrary to the appellant’ s suggestion in his brief, the State need
not prove that a defendant ejaculated during the course of arapein order to establish enhancement
factor (7). See Statev. Kissinger, 922 S.\W.2d 482, 490-491 (Tenn. 1996) (“ That orgasmdid or did
not occur is simply one factor acourt may consider in determining whether the offender committed
the offenseto graify the offender'sdesirefor pleasure or excitement.”); seealso, e.q., Statev. Eldred
Reid, No. 01C01-9511-CC-00390, 1997 WL 311916, at *6 (Tenn. Crim. App. at Nashville, June6,
1997) (approving the application of enhancement factor (7) to a defendant’s sentence for rape,
“[€e]ven though [the defendant] did not gaculate”).

Theappellant alsocomplains, in essence, that thetrial court failedto accord adequate
weight to his lack of a criminal record in mitigating his sentences. Tenn. Code Ann. § 40-35-
114(13). Specifically, the appellant arguesthat thetrial courtimproperly “merged” itsconsideration
of the appellant’s criminal record or lack thereof with its consideration of the mitigating factor set
forthin Tenn. Code Ann. § 40-35-113(11), that the appellant committed the offenses “under such
unusual circumstances that it is unlikely that a sustained intent to violate the law motivated the
criminal conduct.” The appellant observesin his brief, “The Court’s merging of the two distinct
mitigating factors becomes an issue because the Court makes his sentence determination based on
how many mitigating factors there were versus how many enhancement factors there were.”
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Contrary to the appellant’ s observation, this court has previously stated that “[t]he
appellant's sentence is not determined by the mathematical process of adding the sum total of
enhancing factors present then subtracting from this figure the mitigating factors present for a net
number of years.” State v. Boggs, 932 SW.2d 467, 475 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1996). Rather,

[t]here is no particular weight assigned to any given [mitigating or]

enhancement factor by the 1989 Sentencing Act and the “weight

afforded mitigating or enhancement factors derives from balancing

relative degrees of culpability within thetotality of the circumstances

of the case involved.” In other words, the weight given to any

existing factor is left to the trial court’s discretion so long as it

complies with the purposes and principles of sentencing and its

findings are adequately supported by the record.

State v. Shropshire, 874 S.W.2d 634, 642 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1993) (citation omitted). Thus, even
if the trial court weighed the two mitigating factors at issue less heavily than the appellant feels
appropriate by “merging” its consideration of the factors, the appellant is not thereby entitled to
relief.

Inany case, weconcludethat, whiletherecord supportsthetrial court’ sconsideration
of the appellant’s lack of any criminal history,* the record preponderates against the trial court’s
application of mitigating factor (11). As noted by the trial court, whether a defendant possesses a
criminal history may be relevant to whether a sustained intent to violate the law motivated his
criminal conduct in the case under consideration. Cf., e.q., State v. Carlos Demetrius Harris, No.
E2000-00718-CCA-R3-CD, 2001 WL 9927, at *12 (Tenn. Crim. App. a Knoxville, January 4,
2001); Statev. Joe C. Anderson, No. E1999-02485-CCA-R3-CV, 2000 WL 1285258, at * 6 (Tenn.
Crim. App. at Knoxville, September 12, 2000), perm. to appeal denied, (Tenn. 2001). Nevertheless,
the State adduced circumstantial evidenceat trial that the appellant drove SAH to the ReMax Realty
office building with the intent to rape her, sustained this intent upon entering the building, and
further persisted in this intent despite SAH’ s ensuing and repeated pratests.

In sum, enhancemert factors (7) and (15) are applicable to the appellant’ s sentence
for aggravated rape; enhancement factors(7), (9), and (15) are applicabl e to the appellant’ s sentence
for burglary; and enhancement factors (7) and (9) are applicable to the appellant’s sentence for
official misconduct. Tenn. Code Ann. 8§ 40-35-114. Moreover, the appellant’s lack of any prior
criminal history isan appropriate consideration in determining thelength of theappellant’ ssentences
for all three offenses. Tenn. Code Ann. 8§ 40-35-113(13). These conclusions leave the appellant’s
sentencesfor aggravatedrapeand burglary undisturbed. However, becausethetrial courtimproperly
relied upon the appellant’ s abuse of aposition of public trust in imposing a maximum sentence of

4Our supreme court recently approved a court’s consideration of a defendant’s lack of a criminal history in
mitigating a defendant’ s sentence. State v. Gutierrez, 5 S.W.3d 641, 646-647 (Tenn. 1999). Thus,in Statev. Kelley, 34
S.W.3d 471, 483 (Tenn. Crim. App.), perm. to appeal denied, (Tenn. 2000), we observed that, “relative to sentencing, an
individual’s past essentially stands as a witness either for or against him or her.”
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two years incaceration in the Department for the official misconduct conviction, we reduce the
appellant’ s sentence for that offense to one year and five months incarceration.

[11. Conclusion
For theforegoing reasons, weaffirmthejudgmentsof thetrial courtintheaggravated

rape and burglary cases and affirm as modified the judgment of the trial court in the official
misconduct case.

NORMA McGEE OGLE, JUDGE
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